FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
9/13/2019 3:08 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/17/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 35737-6-III

97659-7

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN RE THE ESTATE OF K. WENDELL REUGH, Deceased

JoLynn Reugh-Kovalsky, Mark Reugh, and Jim Reugh,

Petitioners.

REUGH-KOVALSKY/GILL PETITION FOR REVIEW

Amber R. Myrick, WSBA #24576 Amber R. Myrick, P.A. 1087 W. River Street, Suite 150 Boise, ID 83702 (208) 982-0005 Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Petitioners Reugh-Kovalsky and Gill

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

JoLynn Reugh-Kovalsky and Steven Gill seek review of the published Court of Appeals opinion in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS OPINION

The Court of Appeals filed its published opinion on August 20, 2019. It is set forth in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-55.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did Inland Northwest Community Foundation ("INWCF") have standing to seek the removal of Reugh-Kovalsky and Gill as co-personal representatives under RCW 11.68.070?
- 2. Was it proper to remove Reugh-Kovalsky and Gill as the co-personal representatives of the Reugh Estate under RCW 11.68.070 when they did not breach their fiduciary duties as copersonal representatives of the Estate and their actions were not conflicted?
- 3. Did the trial court err in appointing Northwest Trustee & Management Services, LLC ("NWTM") as the Estate's personal representative where it failed to comply with the Will's direction on the appointment of a successor personal representative?
- 4. Did the trial court err in awarding fees under TEDRA, RCW 11.96A.150(1)?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Notwithstanding Division III's lengthy recitation of the facts, op. at 1-20, the facts here are actually straight forward. The late K. Wendell Reugh simultaneously executed a will and the K. Wendell Reugh Revocable Living Trust instrument ("Trust") on January 4, 2011. CP 335-53. That

will was straightforward. It made specific bequests to his children, CP 335-36, and then named the trustee acting under the Trust as the residuary beneficiary. CP 337. The will did not name INWCF as an Estate beneficiary, nor did it make a bequest to INWCF. CP 335-39.

The Trust had an *inter vivos* component where Reugh is named as the sole settlor, trustee, and beneficiary during his life and it reserved to Reugh the opportunity to manage and utilize the Trust assets for his benefit without restriction. CP 342-43. Following Reugh's death, the successor trustee was directed to make specific, extensive monetary bequests. CP 344-47. Reugh made a series of specific "pecuniary bequests" to family members and charities, CP 344, made provision for his descendants, CP 345-46, and established a charitable trust for his close friend, Doreen Decker. CP 346-47. He indicated an intent to create a residual charitable foundation or donor-advised fund, CP 347-48, and INWCF was only a *potential* default trust beneficiary if Reugh failed to establish such a residual charitable foundation or donor-advised fund:

2. If Settlor established neither a charitable foundation nor a charitable donor advised fund, said remainder shall be distributed to the Inland Northwest Community Foundation, to be held as an endowed donor-advised fund known as the Wendell and MaryAnn Reugh Family Fund. Such fund shall have Settlor's three children as its initial advisors. Upon the death, disability or resignation of any such advisors, a replacement shall be appointed by the Board of Directors of the Inland Northwest Community Foundation from among

the descendants (including descendants by adoption) of the Settlor. Settlor wishes that charitable distributions be made from the fund primarily to the kinds of charitable organizations Settlor has given to during his lifetime, serving the people of the Inland Northwest.

CP 347-48. Art VI. Paragraph G.2, a savings clause, allowed for the selection of an alternate charitable organization in the event the decedent's intended private charitable foundation or charitable fund was not in existence at the time the assets were to be distributed. CP 307-08. For reasons unknown to the co-personal representatives, INWCF's name was inserted as the default charitable organization in the paragraph G.2 savings clause. CP 308.¹

Reugh's will provided for the appointment of personal

¹ Such a default trust beneficiary was necessary in order to preserve the estate tax charitable deduction for the Estate if Reugh was unable to form his private charitable foundation or donor-advised fund before his death. Utilizing a private charitable foundation or donor advised fund as the recipient of any remaining assets in a trust estate is a way of minimizing estate taxes that would otherwise be payable. Typically, when drafting provisions to secure a charitable deduction for an estate in the event of an untimely death before the intended charitable beneficiary can be established (i.e., a private charitable foundation or charitable fund), the drafter of such instrument would include a savings clause. Any qualifying charitable organization could have been named in the Trust to secure the estate tax charitable deduction if the intended charitable beneficiary had not been formed by the time of Reugh's death. For example, the savings clause in the Trust could have just as easily stated: "the remainder shall be distributed to such charitable organization qualifying under IRC Section 501(c)(3) as shall be selected by the personal representatives of the Settlor's estate, in their absolute discretion, provided that any such charitable organization selected by the personal representatives is able to receive such distribution," and the Estate would have been able to claim an estate tax charitable deduction. Additionally, the savings clause in paragraph G.2 could have directed the personal representatives or trustee to create a private charitable foundation, and the savings clause could have then directed the trustee to distribute the remainder to that newly created private charitable foundation.

representatives. JoLynn Reugh-Kovalsky, Reugh's daughter, and Steve T. Gill, an old family friend and family business manager, ultimately became the Estate's co-personal representatives, and were also named successor cotrustees after the initial persons named in the Trust declined to serve. With regard to the Estate, the co-personal representatives had nonintervention powers, confirmed by the trial court's order admitting the Reugh Will to probate. CP 19.² Reugh-Kovalsky and Gill were also nominated as the successor co-trustees of the Trust. CP 11-17.

With regard to the Trust, Reugh included specific provisions for the trustee's duties. CP 348-49. He directed the trustee to pay taxes, debts, and expenses. CP 350-51, 352. He provided for the appointment of successor trustees where necessary, largely by his children. CP 349-50. Critically, Reugh authorized his trustee *in two places* in the Trust to purchase, advance, or receive assets from the Estate. CP 349, 351.

Upon their appointment, the co-personal representatives began administering Estate assets, and the co-personal representatives soon discovered that no assets had been transferred into the Trust. CP 306. Reugh-Kovalsky and Gill, therefore, assumed no duties under the Trust as

² Reugh specifically directed that his personal representatives were to have broad nonintervention powers. CP 337-38. He stated: "I direct that such nonintervention powers be unrestricted and that they may be exercised whether or not necessary for the administration of my estate." CP 337. *See* RCW 11.68.090(2) (testator may relieve personal representative of duties, or add or alter same).

there never were any assets to administer. *Id.*

Nor did Reugh establish a charitable private foundation or charitable fund during his lifetime. CP 309. Therefore, under the savings clause in paragraph G.2., INWCF became the default charitable organization designated to receive the remainder of the trust assets, if any. Any such assets received were to be administered by INWCF as provided in paragraph G.2. Reugh-Kovalsky and Gill understood that if the Trust was valid and if it received the remaining assets, then they owed fiduciary duties to INWCF. *Id.*

The Estate's administration was complex due to Reugh's high net worth, the diversity of its investments, and the business and tax planning vehicles Reugh implemented. The co-personal representatives worked for two and one-half years to value and administer the Estate assets and file the required tax returns so that the Estate could settle its debts and identify the proper beneficiaries of the Estate assets. CP 309-10. The Estate was subject to an ongoing IRS examination, beginning in August 2016.³ The co-personal representatives ensured that INWCF was aware of that IRS examination. CP 258-59, 261.

When it became clear that INWCF intended to utilize its status as a

Petition for Review - 5

³ Estate tax examinations of this size, usually take more than three years to complete. CP 261.

residual beneficiary under the Trust as a basis for claiming the bulk of the Estate's assets, Reugh's children, the Estate's beneficiaries, filed an action to declare the Trust invalid. CP 25-63, 355-89. They contended that as an *inter vivos* trust, the Trust never validly came into existence because Reugh named himself its sole settlor, trustee, and beneficiary and, more importantly, he never transferred any assets (not even the nominal \$100 cash stated in the Trust) to the named trustee (which was Reugh) to activate it. *Id*.

INWCF moved in the trial court on November 22, 2017 for the removal of the co-personal representatives claiming their breach of fiduciary duty, prior to the trial court's determination of the validity of the Trust and the resolution of the Estate's federal and state gift and estate tax liabilities. CP 82-96, 258-59.

The trial court ousted Reugh-Kovalsky and Gill and agreed to INWCF's recommended new institutional personal representative, NWTM, whose appointment was inconsistent with the will's successor personal representative provision that allowed the Reugh children to select a successor personal representative. CP 337. Division III's published opinion affirmed the trial court's various decisions.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Division III's published opinion erroneously supported the trial

court's ill-advised decisions to oust Reugh-Kovalsky and Gill as copersonal representatives and co-trustees. The trial court had no basis to remove them under RCW 11.68.070, but the central reason why this Court should grant review is that INWCF clearly lacked standing to file the removal motion under the statute, but Division III utilized an erroneous interpretation of RAP 2.5(a) in order to prevent consideration of that clear error. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

(1) <u>Division III's Opinion Is Contrary to Washington Law on Nonintervention Wills</u>

As Division III acknowledges in its opinion at 20-29, that Washington allows personal representatives to settle estates without court intervention. RCW 11.68.011. The courts "lose jurisdiction" over the administration of estates where the courts have granted the personal representative nonintervention authority, unless the personal representative chooses thereafter to invoke the courts' authority or a qualified person petitions the court under specific statutory authority to address conduct of the personal representative or the estate's administration. *In re Estate of Ardell*, 96 Wn. App. 708, 715, 980 P.2d 771, *review denied*, 139 Wn.2d 1011 (1999). Division III embarks on a lengthy dissertation on the distinction between "jurisdiction" and "authority" that ultimately misses the point. Whether described as "jurisdiction" or "authority," the trial court

should not have intervened in this *nonintervention* will.

Essentially, this Court has held that a personal representative of a nonintervention estate is given plenary authority to settle an estate's affairs ("the court has no role in the administration of the estate except under narrow, statutorily created exceptions that give courts limited authority to intervene"), subject only to specific potential times for court intervention specified in statute. In re Estate of Rathbone, 190 Wn.2d 332, 412 P.3d 1283, 1286 (2018). A trial court may not utilize the specific statutory authority to re-intervene in an estate's administration as a broad charter to undercut a testator's nonintervention intent. Thus, in Rathbone, when a beneficiary tried to obtain a construction of the will favorable to his position by seeking the ouster of personal representatives and an interim accounting, the Court reversed trial court decisions based on RCW 11.68.070 (removal of a personal representative) and RCW 11.68.110 (estate accounting) that interfered with the personal representative's administration of the estate, stating: "A party may not use RCW 11.68.110 to challenge a personal representative's reasonable decisions in interpreting a will's directions." *Id*. at 1288. Similarly, it observed that RCW 11.68.070 had not been invoked in that case as to a personal representative's alleged self-dealings and indicated that the challenger to the personal representative's actions could not sustain an allegation of misconduct where the will specifically authorized the personal representative to buy the decedent's house. *Id.* at 1290.⁴ The trial court's decision here to oust Reugh-Kovalsky and Gill as personal representatives/trustees at INWCF's insistence is no different.

(2) <u>Division III's Opinion Is Contrary to the Decisions on Removal of a Personal Representative</u>

While motions to remove a personal representative under RCW 11.68.070 may constitute grounds for the courts to reinvoke their jurisdiction over a nonintervention estate's administration, *In re Estate of Jones*, 152 Wn.2d 1, 9, 93 P.3d 147 (2004),⁵ this authority is not open-

⁴ Division III's opinion not only contradicts *Rathbone*, but its own decision in *In* Re McAnally Estate, 3 Wn. App. 2d 1049, 2018 WL 2069521, review denied, 191 Wn.2d 1019 (2018), where a disgruntled will and testamentary trust beneficiary sought the removal of the estate's personal representative, a bank. The court declined to reach arguments posed by the beneficiary as to the personal representative's work as trustee and any alleged breach of fiduciary duty associated with the work as trustee because the only issue before the Court was the estate's closing and the trust was not party to that proceeding. Id. at *3. Similarly, in this case, any issues as to the actions of the co-personal representatives as trustees were beyond the purview of a proceeding under RCW 11.68.070, a proceeding pertinent *only* to their work as Estate personal representatives. In McAnally, Division III also refused to address the personal representative's interpretation of the will's terms. Id. at *5. It rejected an argument that the personal representative improperly sold an estate asset where the personal representative had the right to sell the property and the beneficiary agreed to its sale. Id. at *5-7. It further found that the bank conveyed accurate information to the beneficiary, albeit not as rapidly as it should have. Id. at *8. The court's analysis only confirmed the broad discretion afforded personal representatives under nonintervention wills after *Rathbone*.

⁵ The 1974 Legislature adopted RCW 11.68.070, which states in pertinent part that a personal representative in a nonintervention estate may be removed for the reasons articulated in RCW 11.28.250 or for failure to execute his or her responsibilities faithfully. RCW 11.28.250 speaks to waste, embezzlement, mismanagement, fraud, incompetence to act, or wrongful neglect of the estate. *See* Appendix. Thus, a personal representative may be removed both for the reasons set forth in RCW 11.28.250 *and* if she/he fails to execute her/his responsibilities faithfully as noted in RCW 11.68.070.

ended. As this Court noted in *Jones*, a court may not "remove a representative on a whim." *Id.* at 11

To establish grounds for the removal of a personal representative, the party seeking the removal must prove personal representative misconduct with specificity. The need for specificity of proof is essential as to hold otherwise is to defeat the purpose of noninterventional wills to provide inexpensive, administratively simple estate administration *without court intervention*; to allow parties to file petitions to remove personal representatives with nonintervention powers without requiring them to make specific allegations of personal representative misconduct would defeat the purpose of nonintervention wills, subjecting the courts to a barrage of baseless petitions.⁶

Removal of a personal representative with nonintervention powers is meant to be an *unusual* step to deter misconduct of the most egregious sort. *In re Beard's Estate*, 60 Wn.2d 127, 132, 372 P.2d 530 (1962) (failure

⁶ This concern is real. A court may be asked to remove a personal representative because of interpersonal concerns or argument of "efficiency." *In re Blodgett's Estate*, 67 Wn.2d 92, 93, 406 P.2d 638 (1965) ("The relationship between the two brothers was less than cordial . . ."); *State ex rel. Lauridsen v. Superior Court for King County*, 179 Wash. 198, 209, 37 P.2d 209 (1934) ("The administration has progressed over a period of nearly two years. A great deal of effort has been expended, and much of the work entailed has been completed. In the very nature of things, the present administrators are better qualified than at least two of the realtors would be."); *In re St. Martin's Estate*, 175 Wash. 285, 286, 27 P.2d 326 (1933) (". . . there has been considerable dissension among the heirs. The evidence discloses that this dissension is of long standing . . ."). RCW 11.68.070 contemplates a higher standard for removal of a personal representative.

to obtain necessary court order); *In re Aaberg's Estates*, 25 Wn. App. 336, 339, 607 P.2d 1227 (1980) (failure to handle finances properly, perform accounting, or distribute assets in accordance with the will). Beneficiaries who disagree with the personal representative's decisions have the remedy of seeking relief after the personal representative accounts to the court at the closure of the estate. RCW 11.68.100 – .110. Removal of the personal representative is not a substitute for this accounting upon closure of the estate, as the *Rathbone* court indicated.

The trial court here concluded that because Reugh-Kovalsky was a personal representative of the Estate and a co-trustee, CP 826 (FF 8) and a Trust beneficiary, *id*. (FF 9), she was conflicted when she joined her siblings in petitioning the court to contest the validity of the Trust. *Id*. (FF 12-13). Though he was not a will or Trust beneficiary, the trial court imputed any conflict on Reugh-Kovalsky's part to Gill. CP 827 (FF 14). Division III improperly affirmed the trial court's determinations. Op. at 45-52.

The trial court erred for all the reasons articulated in the Reugh-Kovalsky/Gill briefs. Reugh-Kovalsky/Gill did not mismanage the Estate or Trust assets,⁷ nor did they have disabling breaches of fiduciary duty or

⁷ Division III did not determine anywhere in its opinion that the co-personal representatives mismanaged the Estate, as INWCF contended below. CP 85-95.

conflicts of interest. *See* Appellants' br. at 21-41; appellants' reply br. at 11-18.8

This only makes practical sense. To hold otherwise, would mean a beneficiary could not receive estate property from himself or herself as personal representative or trustee. A beneficiary would likely decline appointment in order to receive his or her inheritance in kind. This would greatly reduce the number of persons willing to serve. It would also mean that the personal representative or trustee would have to forego an inheritance to preserve his or her status as personal representative. Few would choose to forego a distribution from an estate to serve as personal representative and either alternative would also deny the intent of the testator.

Reugh specifically relieved his personal representatives and successor trustees of conflict concerns if they received benefits under the Trust, as noted *supra*. The trustee was empowered to make "advancements" to the personal representative, even where the personal representative was a trustee. CP 349, 351.

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