FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/21/2019 2:23 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97659-7

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN RE THE ESTATE OF K. WENDELL REUGH, Deceased

JoLynn Reugh-Kovalsky, Mark Reugh and Jim Reugh,

Petitioners.

# ANSWER OF RESPONDENT INLAND NORTHWEST COMMUNITY FOUNDATION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY JOLYNN REUGH-KOVALSKY/MARK REUGH/JAMES REUGH

Attorneys for Respondent Inland Northwest Community Foundation
Peter A. Witherspoon, WSBA #7956
James A. McPhee, WSBA #26323
Witherspoon Brajcich McPhee, PLLC
601 West Main Avenue, Suite 714
Spokane, Washington 99201
Telephone: (509) 455-9077

### **

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

A. The Reugh children waived any "jurisdiction" arguments; even if not waived, they invoked the jurisdiction of the trial court by filing their Petition to invalidate the Trust.

The Reugh children's overall claim that the trial court did not have "jurisdiction" in a non-intervention probate to remove Ms. Kovalsky and Mr. Gill is not subject to review because they did not raise that issue before the trial court, were precluded from doing so before the Court of Appeals, and therefore waived any arguments related to "jurisdiction." *In Re Detention of Ambers*, 160 Wn.2d 543, 557 n.6, 158 P.3d 1144 (2007) and *Smith v. Shannon*, 100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983).

Even if arguments related to "jurisdiction" had been raised with the trial court, the *Petition for Review* must be denied because the Reugh children specifically invoked the jurisdiction of the trial court by filing the Petition to invalidate the Trust. The Reugh children's Petition alleged that the trial court (1) had jurisdiction over the Estate and the Trust; (2) had full power and authority to administer all Estate and Trust matters; and (3) had "inherent power" to clarify status for both the Estate and Trust "at any time." CP 356. The Reugh children invited the trial court's authority over

both the Estate and Trust and conceded to that authority. Ms. Kovalsky and Mr. Gill's Answer to the Petition unanimously solidified that invitation and authority. Mr. Reugh's children, Ms. Kovalsky, and Mr. Gill invoked the trial court's authority to administer all aspects of the Estate and Trust, and, once asserted, the trial court was invested with the authority to do so. *In Re Estate of Ardell*, 96 Wn.App. 708, 816, 980 P.2d 771 (1999), *In Re Estate of Westall*, 4 Wn.App.2d 877, 886, 423 P.3d 930 (2018). The Reugh children cannot invoke the authority of the trial court as a sword to promote their objectives and, simultaneously, as a shield to avoid adverse rulings when the trial court exercised that authority to enter an adverse ruling.

## B. The Court of Appeals ruling is consistent with Washington Law on nonintervention wills.

The *Petition for Review* incorrectly asserts that the trial court "loses" jurisdiction in a non-intervention probate unless jurisdiction is "regained" by the filing of a summons and petition to remove pursuant to RCW 11.96A.100. While Washington law provides that a trial court's involvement in a nonintervention estate is somewhat limited, it is not

7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court in *Westall* held that the personal representative's motion to approve the sale of property to himself while alleging broad invocation of the trial court's authority over the estate authorized the trial court not only to deny that motion, but further order that the property be sold to a third party.

nonexistent as Petitioners contend. The *Petition for Review* must be denied for three reasons.

First, RCW 11.68.070 is not "jurisdictional" and the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with Supreme Court precedent. As this Court has clarified, "jurisdiction" refers to a court's *authority* to remove a personal representative under RCW 11.68.070 if the statutory criteria are satisfied. In Re Estate of Rathbone 190 Wn.2d 332, 339 n.4, 412 P.3d 1283 (2018). ("Although our cases refer to a court's power to act in nonintervention probates as 'jurisdiction,' they are referring to the statutory grant of 'authority' to decide the issue addressed in that particular statute [RCW 11.68.070]."). Where, as here, the party seeking removal expressly invokes RCW 11.68.070, the trial court is authorized to reassume control over the probate and decide whether the personal representative should be removed for failing to comply with his or her fiduciary duties. *Id.* at 342. Rathbone explicitly contemplated the exercise of this authority to remove or restrict the powers of a personal representative for failing to comply with fiduciary duties. Id. at 342. As clearly stated in Rathbone, RCW 11.68.070 is, therefore, not "jurisdictional" and there is no threshold jurisdictional requirement as contended here. Once the statute is invoked, the trial court simply proceeds to determine whether the criteria for removal have been

met. *Id.* at 342. See also *In Re Estate of Jones*, 152 Wn.2d, 1, 9, 93 P.3d 147 (2004). (Beneficiaries had the authority and the trial court had the authority to decide, if the personal representative discharged his duties pursuant to RCW 11.68.070.)

Second, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with other appellate decisions. Contrary to the *Petition for Review, In Re Estate of Ardell* supports the Court of Appeals decision. *Ardell* held that while an order of solvency in a non-intervention estate generally divested the court of jurisdiction, the authority of the trial court could be invoked if another person authorized by statute (1) files a petition to examine the administration of the estate or (2) files of a petition for removal the personal representative pursuant to RCW 11.68.070. *Id.* at 715-717. Once a petition to remove is filed, the only question (as in this case) is whether a *prima facie* case for removal was presented to the trial court. *Id.* at 718.716.

The Reugh children's citation to *In Re Estate of Harder*, 185 Wn.App. 378, 382-383, 341 P.2d 342 (2015) is equally unavailing as it simply confirms that jurisdiction is properly invoked when an individual with statutorily conferred authority invokes it. *Id.* Unlike the parties in *Harder* (who did not file a petition contesting a declaration of completion of a probate pursuant to RCW 11.18.110) the Reugh children specifically

invoked the authority of the trial court when they filed the Petition to invalidate the Trust and asserted that the trial court had authority over all matters related to the Estate and Trust. INWCF specifically invoked the trial court's authority to remove Ms. Kovalsky and Mr. Gill pursuant to RCW 11.68.070.

Similarly, In Re Estate of Westall confirms that in a non-intervention probate, the trial court regains authority over the matter if the personal representative or another person with statutorily conferred authority invokes that authority. As set forth above, the Westall opinion held that the personal representative invoked the authority of the trial court under TEDRA by filing a motion to approve a sale of real property. Id. at 886.

Third, the Reugh children either waived any perceived procedural defects regarding the request to remove Ms. Kovalsky and Mr. Gill or they invited that error. At the inception of the hearing to address removal, the trial court offered the option of scheduling a separate hearing at a later date. That offer was rejected. CP 825-825; RP 5-7. The Court of Appeals correctly declined to hear an issue abandoned before the trial court. *Holder v. City of Vancouver*, 136 Wn.App. 104, 107, 147 P.3d 641 (2006). Furthermore, as correctly noted by the Court of Appeals, the Reugh children invited that error by agreeing to hold the hearing, creating the alleged

"error," then unilaterally reversing their choice to proceed when the trial court ruled against them. *In Re Dependency of K.R.*, 128 Wn.2d 129, 147, 904 P.2d 1132 (1995). They did not, as the Court of Appels noted, argue that they were unprepared for the hearing or advise the trial court of any additional arguments or evidence that would be presented at any later hearing to contradict the undisputed facts before the trial court supporting removal. *In Re Estate of Reugh*, -- Wn..App. --, 447 P.3d 544, 567 (2019).

INWCF invoked RCW 11.68.070 and demonstrated that the criteria for removal were met. That is all that the statute requires. Accordingly, the question is whether the trial court properly exercised its broad discretion to remove Ms. Kovalsky and Mr. Gill. *In Re Estates of Aaberg*, 25 Wn. App. 336, 339, 607 P.2d 1227 (1980); and *In Re Estate of Ehlers*, 80 Wn. App. 751, 761, 911 P.2d 1017 (1996). As addressed in INWCF's *Answer* to Ms. Kovalsky and Mr. Gill's *Petition for Review*, the trial court properly exercised that discretion under long-standing Washington law to remove them as personal representatives and trustees for clear breaches of fiduciary duties and conflicts of interest.

# C. Division III's opinion regarding "standing" does not conflict with Washington state precedent.

The *Petition for Review* contends that INWCF lacked "standing" to seek removal under RCW 11.68.070, arguing that INWCF is not an "heir," "devisee" or "legatee" under the Will.<sup>5</sup> Review is not appropriate for five reasons.

First, this argument was not raised at the trial court and properly rejected by the Court of Appeals. Wingert v. Yellow Freight Sys., Inc., 146 Wn.2d 841, 853, 50 P.3d 256 (2002) and RAP 2.5(a). The Reugh children's argument that RAP 2.5 permits review for "failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted" citing Gross v. City of Lynwood, 90 Wn2d 395, 583 P.2d 1197 (1978) is incorrect. This exception only applies where the proof of particular facts at the trial court is required to sustain a claim and does not apply to facts on which the parties agree. In Re Adoption of T.A.W., 188 Wn.App. 799, 808, 354 P.3d 46 (2015), State v. Clark, 195 Wn.App. 868, 874, 381 P.3d 198 (2016). As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, Gross v. City of Lynwood, has no application because the Reugh children (nor Ms. Kovalsky or Mr. Gill) asked the Court of Appeals to accept review for the first time on appeal because INWCF did not present facts to support

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Petition for Review, pg. 15.

Ms. Kovalsky and Mr. Gill's removal. *In Re Estate of Reugh*, 447 P.3d at 566. They just disagree with the result. The undisputed facts supporting removal before the trial court demonstrated (1) INWCF is the main beneficiary of Mr. Reugh's pour-over will and is clearly an "heir, devisee, [or] legatee" and (2) Ms. Kovalsky, Mr. Gill and the Reugh children attempted to circumvent the testamentary plan for their own profit to the detriment of INWCF. These facts presented by INWCF clearly supported the relief sought to remove Ms. Kovalsky and Mr. Gill.

Second, to have standing, a party need only be in the law's "zone of interest" and suffer harm. *Nelson v. Appleway Chevrolet, Inc.* 160 Wn.2d 173, 186, 157 P.3d 847 (2007). The Reugh children's actions, in concert with Ms. Kovalsky and Mr. Gill, clearly established an orchestrated attempt to divert Mr. Reugh's assets away from INWCF and directly to themselves.

Third, as set forth above, the relief sought for removal of Ms. Kovalsky and Mr. Gill pursuant to RCW 11.68.070 does not contain a threshold "jurisdictional" requirement. *Rathbone*, 190 Wn.2d at 339 n.4, 342; *Jones*, 152 Wn2d at 9; *Ardell*, 96 Wn.App. at 715-717, *Harder*, 185 Wn.App. at 383-383; *Westall*, 4 Wn. App.2d at 886-887.

Fourth, the purpose of RCW 11.68.070 is to provide protection to beneficiaries and other interested parties when a personal representative breaches fiduciary duty. *Jones*, 152 Wn.2d at 10–11. INWCF fits squarely within that framework.

Finally, INWCF does in fact have "standing." Mr. Reugh's will is a standard pour-over will. Pursuant to the Trust, INWCF was to receive whatever remains of the estate after the pecuniary bequests to Mr. Reugh's family members and friends have been made. CP 202. INWCF is clearly a "devisee" or "legatee" in this circumstance. A devisee is "a recipient of property by will." *In Re Estate of Hitchcock*, 140 Wn. App. 526, 532, 167 P.3d 1180 (2007). A legatee is "one who is named in a will to take personal property; one who has received a legacy or bequest." *Id.* The Will and Trust were "integrally related components of a single testamentary scheme." *Clymer v. Mayo*, 473 N.E.2d 1084, 1092 (Mass. 1985). The Legislature has expressly endorsed the use of pour-over wills as a means of gifting probate assets. RCW 11.12.250. It therefore stands to reason that the Legislature would not draw a distinction between "devisees" and

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> A "legacy" is defined as "[a] gift by will, [especially] of personal property and often money." LEGACY, *Blacks Law Dictionary* (10th ed. 2014). A "bequest" is defined as "money or other property that a person arranges to give to someone or an organization upon death; [especially] property ([usually] personal property or money) disposed of in a will." BEQUEST, *Blacks Law Dictionary* (10th ed. 2014).

"legatees" whose names appear on the face of a will and those who receive gifts of probate assets via a pour-over clause.

## D. The Trial Court appropriately appointed a successor institutional personal representative and trustee.

The Reugh children maintain that review is required because they should have been allowed to select the new personal representative and trustee.<sup>7</sup> Review is not appropriate for four reasons.

First, contrary to the *Petition for Review*, the Court of Appeals did not acknowledge that the trial court "deviated" from Mr. Reugh's intent regarding a replacement personal representative or trustee nor did the Court of Appeals "impose" waiver. The Reugh children themselves waived the argument because they failed to raise the issue with the trial court. The Court of Appeals correctly declined to review on appeal. *State v. Riley*, 121 Wn.2d 22, 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993); *Wingert v. Yellow Freight Sys. Inc.*, 146 Wn.2d at 853 and RAP 2.5(a).

Second, there can be no dispute that, under Washington law, once a personal representative is removed for breach of fiduciary duties the trial court had the authority (and duty) to appoint a successor. RCW 11.68.070

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Petition for Review, pg. 16-17.

and Estate of Jones, at 19-20.8 Similarly, RCW 11.98.039(4) allows a beneficiary of a trust to remove a trustee for "any reasonable cause." <sup>9</sup> There is also no dispute that beneficiaries have a "primary right" to have an estate distributed by law. Estate of Jones at 19. If the particular person serving as a personal representative may interfere with that right, that individual should not be appointed. Id. Finally, where a conflict of interest exists which would contravene the rights of beneficiaries and further result in waste of the estate, a potential representative should be disqualified. Id. See also, In Re Estate of Thomas, 167 Wash, 127, 133-34, 8 P.2d 963 (1932) cited by Jones, (Where ill-will exists which would result in more litigation, the court may appoint any suitable person even if that person is outside the family.) As this Court noted in *Estate of Jones*, the trial court properly refused to appoint a successor personal representative "in league" with the personal representative removed for breach of fiduciary duties. Jones at 19-20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See also RCW 11.28.160. (A court appointing a personal representative has authority for any cause deemed sufficient to cancel letters and appoint other personal representatives in the place of those removed.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See also *Townsend v. Charles Schalkenbach Home for Boys*, 33 Wn.2d 255, 261-261, 205 P.2d 345 (1949). (If a trustee refuses or fails to carry out the intention of the trust, the trial court also has the authority to appoint a successor.)

Third, neither the Will nor the Trust gives the Reugh children the right to select a successor when a personal representative or trustee is *removed*. Article IV of the Will only allows selection of a successor when an individual who was nominated as a personal representative is "unwilling or unable to serve," or when an appointed personal representative deems it "necessary or advisable" to appoint an ancillary personal representative. CP 337, 338. The Trust only allows selection of a successor in the event of the "death, resignation, or inability" of a nominated successor trustee to serve. CP 350. The Reugh children's reliance on *In Re Estate of Wright*, 147 Wn.App. 674, 196 P.3d 1075 (2008) is incorrect because neither the Will nor Trust gave them the explicit right to select another personal representative or trustee when they were properly removed.

Fourth, assuming *arguendo* that the Reugh children *did* have a right to choose a replacement personal representative and trustee, they waived that right at the trial court level by (as set forth above) refusing to submit proposed replacement.

E. Division III appropriately awarded INWCF attorney fees and costs, and fees and costs should be awarded to INWCF by the Supreme Court.

Division III correctly exercised its broad discretion pursuant to RCW 11.96A.150 and RAP 18.1 and appropriately awarded INWCF its

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